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Roger J. Marzulla, with whom was Nancie G. Marzulla, Marzula Law, LLC,
Washington, D.C., for Plaintiffs.

Corinne A. Niosi, with whom wereGregg P. Yates, Trial Attorney, Tony West, Assistant
Attorney GeneralJeanne E. Davidson, Director, andBryant G. Shee, Deputy Director,
Commercial Litigation Branch, Civil Division, United States Department of Justice,
Washington, D.C., for Defendant.

OPINION AND ORDER

WHEELER, Judge.

Plaintiffs, Internationallndustrial Park, Inc., KYDDLF and RDLFGFT No. 1
LLC, and Rancho Vista Del Maare landowners ithe Otay Mesa area of San Diego
County, Gilifornia. Plaintiffs (or “Landowners”) contend that the Government bezhch
a contract in which it promised to build a road across Plaintiffs’ property. During the
negotiations over the contract and the mmsitract dispute, the Landowneogecame
embroiled in litigation irthis Courtover the Government'gse of their land to patrohe
border between the United States and MexiBeeOtay Mesa Property L.P. v. United
States(“Otay Mesa’l), 86 Fed. Cl. 774 (2009)They soughttompensationn a Fifth
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Amendmenttakings action The attorney representiniget Governmenin that phase of
the litigation was Ms. Susan Cook of the U.S. Department of Justice

The parties entered inta contract,called “Department of Homeland Security
Right-of-Entry for Construction” (“thecontract” or “ROEC”) on August 6, 208. The
contractprovided forthe Landownerdo give the Governmenl) a oneyear right-of-
entry to constructtwo (eastern and westerrgccess roal across the Landowners’
propertyto the borderin exchangdor the payment of one dar and (2) an easement
along the western access road in exchange for the permanent improvement of that road to
“County specifications standarts.The ROEC also provided for the Government to
extinguish a preexisting easement that the Landowners cont@ytdvhich no longer
would be necessary to patrol the border in light of the new arrangement. The contract
includedan exhibit(“Exhibit 1”), which mappedhe alignment of th@nprovedroad and
listed therequirements for &County specifications” roadh an inset br. Mr. David
Wick, Plaintiffs’ agent, signed th&OE-C on July 31, 2008. Mr. John Baker, the
contracting officer for the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (“the CorpaChief of the
Real Estate Division for the Albuquerque District, signed it on August 6, 2008.

In the fall of 2008, Ms. Cook and MKkVick entered intovarious contentious
discussions concerning the agreedpe of constructiofor the road improvements. Ms.
Cook asserts that durintpe course of thee discussionsMr. Wick said he ndonger
wanted the alignment set forth in the contract. In contké&stWick merely remembers
suggesting a new alignment after Ms. Cook said the Goverraitenbt have the budget
to meetall specifications undahe original alignment. After December 2008, the parties
began negotiating a new alignment but never reaghejreement

On August 14, 2009, Government officials met with Mr. Wick and told him that
the Governmentvould not perform under the contract. On August 24, 2009, Mr. Wick
wrote a letter demanding performance. The Government never responded. Plaintiffs
filed a complaint in this Court on October 14, 2009.

The Government initially challengethis Court’s jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’
claims, arguing thathe Contract Disputes Act (“CDA”), 41 U.S.88 601613 (2006)
(current version at 41 U.S.€§ 71017109),covered the August 6, 2008 agreememid
that Plantiffs did not comply with CDAjurisdictioral prerequisites The Court deied
Defendant’smotion to dismiss on October 12, 2010, holding that the CDA did not apply
to the ROE-C.Seelnt’| Indus. Park, Inc. v. United Stai&$ Fed. Cl. 63 (2010).

In the instant matter, the partieBspute the scope of the road improvement
obligation createdunder te ROEC. Defendant argues that the contract created no
construction obligation. Further even if it did create a construction obligation,
Defendant argues that thentract is noenforceable because there was no meetinigeof
minds as tothe obligatiors scope. On the one hand, the Landowners belieaethe
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improved road hasto meet all the requirement®f a public road, whichcould be
dedicated to San Diego CountyOn the other handhe Government believabat the
scope ofimprovement is limitedo the specific elements listeéalthe inset box of Exhibit
1 to thecontract. Finally, Defendant contends that the Government is nbteachof its
obligation because the Landowneescinded or waived their rights under the ROE
Defendant B0 contendsthat equitable estoppegustifies relief for the Government
because the Landowners’ actions materially prejudiced it.

The Court held a fouday trial in WashingtonD.C. from April 12 through April
15, 2011. During trial, the Court received the testimony of twelve witnesses, three of
whom were experts. The parties filed pwo&il briefs on June 14, 20%nd reply briefs
on July 14, 2011. The Court heard closing arguments on August 9, 2011.

In brief summary, th&ourt finds that the parties signad enforceable contract
with a construction obligation on August 6, 2008. However, the scope of road
improvement idimited to the requirements actuablpecifiedin the contract, in the inset
box of Exhibit 1. The record does not demonstrate that Plaintiffs ever rescinded or
waived their rights under the contranbr does equitable estoppel justify relfef the
Government. Plaintiffs are entitled to damages for the cost of constructing an improved
road consistenwith the elements specifically listeth the inset box. Based updhe
estimation ofDefendant expert the Landowners therefore are entitled to $1,708jh85
damages.

Factual Background

A. The Landowners’ Prioditigation and Early Neqotiations to Resolve the
Present Conflict

Plaintiffs in this case, International Industrial Park, Inc., KYDDLF and RDLFGFT
No. 1 LLC, ard Rancho Vista Del Maare owners of parcels of land in the Otay Mesa
area & San Diego County, California(Stip. I 1-3.) Plaintiffs are owned by the DealL
Fuente family of San Diego, California. (Sth 4) Plaintiffs International Industrial
Park, Inc. and Ramo Vista Del Mar as well as several other entities ownedtlgyDe
La Fuente familybrought suit in this Court in 2006 seeking just compensation for the
Office of Border Rtrols (“Border Patrdk”) taking of their property.SeeOtay Mesd,
86 Fed. Cl. 774.TheBorder Patrohad been using Plaintiffs’ property since the 1970s to
detect and apprehend illegal aliens crossing into the United States from MéXicd.

! This Factual Backgroundonstitutes the Court’s principal findings of fact under Rule 52(a) of
the Court. Other findings of fact and rulings on mixed questiérigob and law are set forth
later in the Discussion.



775. The plaintiffs in Otay Mesalleged that the Borderalol effectuated a taking by
patrolling the plaintifs’ property onfoot and in vehicles 24 hours pday, assuming
stationary positions on the plaintiffs’ property from which they monitored and responded
to illegal alien activity, creating new roads without the Landowners’ permission,
installing undergroush motionrdetecton sensors, and constructing a permanent tented
structure from which agents respeddo radio calls from station headquartetd. The
Court issued a decision on liability on May 5, 20fd@ding that the statute of limitations
barredmost ofthe plaintiffs’ claims butas the Government stipulatetierehad beera
taking of easements over the plaintiffs’ property due to the installation and tise of
undergroundsensors.ld. at 78591. The Court awarded damages of $3,043,051 o& Jun
30, 2010. SeeOtay Mesa Property L.P. v. United State®tay Mesa 1), 93 Fed. Cl.

476 (2010)appealdocketedNo. 2011-5002Ked.Cir. Oct. 1, 2010).

While litigation over thetakingsclaim was ongoing, the parties began to discuss
the possibility of theLandowners grantinthe Government an easement in exchange for
an improvedroad. See(Cook, Tr. 55455.) The Border Patrol uses both Alta Road and
the Otay TrucKTrail in its work. (Pena, Tr. 3701.) Plaintiffs’ land lies between ¢h
two roads andthe Border Patrol requiremccess across Plaintiffs’ property to redcé
Otay Truck Trail from Alta Road (Wick, Tr. 10506; Pena,Tr. 35253, PX 199) In
1990, Mr.Roque De La Fuente granted the Unitdtesthrough the Bureau of Land
Management (“BLM”),an easement across an unimproved (unpaved) stretthe of
Landowners’ propertjrom Alta Road to the entrance tioe Otay Truck Trail. $tip. 1
11; Wick, Tr. 112, 20709.) However,there is a blind spot at the AltaoBdentrance of
the BLM easemenand therefore,it is not entirely safer functionalto use the BLM
easement to access the Otay Truck TréWick, Tr. 113-14.) As a result, the Border
Patrol wouldcut across th®e La Fuentégpropertyin other areas See(Wick, Tr. 105
06.) That practice created friction between the Border Patnadl Plaintiffs (Wick, Tr.
109-12.)

In mid-2007, Ms.Cook, the attorney representing the Governnduring the
takings litigation,entered into discussions with Mr. De La Fuesbeutthe possibiliy of
supplementing the BLM easement. (Cook, Tr.-564 The Government would
construct an improved road along a safer and more functional iroetechangdor an
easement along that rout8ee(Cook, Tr. 555-57.) Mr. De La Fuente’s agent, Miick,
beganmore advancedegotiationsvith Mr. Oscar Penan the fall of 2007. (Wick, Tr.
216) Mr. Wick is the president of National Enterprises and its subsid@by
Commercial, LLC,management companies that ommd develogroperties throughout
the countryincluding the Landownetrgroperties (Wick, Tr. 9691) Mr. Pena was the
Acting Assistant Chief for Tactical Infrastructure for the Border Patrol from July 2007
through May 2009. (Pena, Tr. 347.) Hab was toensurethat the Border Patrol's
operational requirements were met. He did not have final approval autfarign
agreement to build a road. (Pena, Tr. 376-77.)



Mr. Wick and Mr. Penanetin October 200%0 discussa routethat would run
perpendtular to theDonovanState Prisona route which theyalled “Alignment 17
(Wick, Tr. 21920); seealso(DX 5.) After their meeting, Mr. Wick sent @amailto Mr.
Penaon October 17, 2003tating,“Attached are the County’s road standards.” (JX 4.)
Attached to thaemailwere: (1) the cover page of thBublic Road Standard€ounty of
San Diego Department &fublic Works” (2) apage from the Public Road Standattat
defines ‘ndustrial/Commercial Collector Rogdand (3) a section of letter fran San
Diego County to Alta Consultants (Plaintiffs’ engineer), describing tlein€’s
requirements to dedicateroad. Id. Mr. Wick testified that although not directly stated
in the text ofhis emai) his purpose in sendingpd email was to provide MrPera with
directionas to the necessary specifications of the improved road, which the Landowners
planned to dedicate to the Countee(Wick, Tr. 11819.) Mr. Pena forwardedhe
attachmerd tothree other officials.See(JX 5.) On November 1, 200@pproximately
two weeks after his firgmail Mr. Wick sent a seconémailto Mr. Pena and/is. Cook,
among others, suggesting a second alignm8ae(DX 6.)

B. The PF-225 Project

As Mr. Wick negotiatedaccess across Plaintiffproperty with Mr. Pena anhfls.
Cook, theU.S. Customs and Border Protecti¢{¢BP”) identified a portion of the border
with Mexico within the San Ysid Mountains, referred to as “thel” segmentjfor the
erection of several miles of pedestrian fencing. (Stip. T 14; Flossma&2dy. The
Border Patrol is the law enforcement arm of @&P, whichitself isa component of the
U.S. Department of Homeland Security (Stip. 1 5-6.) The Border Patrol was
responsible for identifying areas across the border, like theségment, where there was
a need for “persistent impealze” (Flossman, Tr. 520, 522.) The Facilities Management
and Engineering Orgazdion (“FMNE”), another component of th€BP, is an
organization that providesolutions for the Border Patrol once ibas identifed a
requirement. (Flossman, Tr. 520.) TheFMNE’s sdution for providing persistent
impedance along the A1 segment was terecta pedestriarfence. (Flossman, Tr.19-
20.)

The Al segment igart of the “Pedestrian Fence 225" (bPF225") project.
(Flossman, Tr. 5-22) The PF225 project, itself apart of the broader “Border
Infrastructure $stem; involves the erectiorof 225 miles of pedestrian fence and
infrastructure in various locations along the southaredborder of theUnited States.
(Stip. 1 14))

In addition to identifying areas of persistent impetgthe Border Patralso was
responsible for conducting landowner outreamlgainaccess to théurgeoningfence
(Flossman, Tr. 523-25.) The FMN#so coordinated with the BordertRd to ersure
that nothing the formedid to facilitate constructingthe fence would harm the latter’s
ability to conductenforcemenbperations. (Flossman, Tr. 525.) Loren Flossman is the
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Director of the Program Management Office fBorder Patrol Facilities and Tactical
Infrastructure at th&-MNE. (Flossman, Tr. 5118.) Mr. Flossman testified that Mr.

Pena was in charge of outreach to local landowners, such as Mr. De La Fuente, at the
time of the A-1 segment negotiationSee(Flossman, Tr. 525.)

The CBPworked with the Corps to provide real estate and construction services
for the actual building of the fence. (Stip. 1 1Specifically, he CBPworked with the
Coms to determine how and where to erect the fence. (FlosSma®23.) The two
organizations alsavorked together on writing requests for propessgRFPS) and on
source selection. (Flossman, Tr. 524.) The Corps awarded the contracts and thesrsaw
work of contractors. Id. For the PR225 project, the U.S. Secretary of Homeland
Securitydelegated the authority to enter im&al estate transactions on the CBBehalf
to the Corps. (Stip. 1 16.)

To construct a fence along the-JAsegmentthe CBP preferred to have access
from both the east and the west. (Flossman, Tr. 525-26.) On January 22, 2008, the Corps
issued a RFP “for the DesignBuild, Construction of Monument 250 Roadway and
Primary BorderBarrier Fene, San Diego County, CalifornilFP No. SANUROS-
0002” (Stip. 1 17; seealso(JX 9) Mr. William Miller, at the time a senior project
manager for the Corps’ Programs and Project Management Division, superesiéRh
process. (Miller, Tr. 646, 648 The RFP providedbr the design and construction arf
access road to the border barrierckesite withaccess from one of two options: from the
east under Option I' andfrom the west, across Plaintiffs’ property, und@ption 2.”

(Stip. 1 17); seealso(Miller, Tr. 647; JX 9. The RFP includedas “Appendix X,” the
same“Public Road Standardsfocuments thavir. Wick had includedn his October 17,

2007 email to Mr. Pena. Compare(JX 4), with (JX 9) The RFP alsancludeda
schematic diagram illustrating the paththe A1 segmenas of the issuance of the RFP.
See(Miller, Tr. 64850.) The Corpknew thisconfigurationwas not final andhat it

likely would have to go back to itsustomer, thd&=MNE, to reviseits budget on account

of modifications. See (Miller, Tr. 650-52, 655.) The Corpsultimately accepted a
$57,139195 proposal from Granite Constructi¢iGranite”) and awardedsranite the
contract on May 27, 2008. (Stifi 18; seealso(JX 29.) Granite’proposal included
$2,094,000 for “the design and construction of culvert crossings, low water cEssing
and roadway grading for Monument 250 Road located on Otay Mountain, San Diego
County, Calibrnia,” $53,213,000 for “the design and construction of primary border
barrier fence and construction access roadwagllectively, Option 1), and $1,832,195

for “[tlhe design and construction for a west access road from Alta Road to Otay Truck
Trail” (Option 2). (Stip. 1 18); se&so(JX 25.)

C. ContractNegotiations Betweethe Landowners and the Government

Mr. Wick maintains thatafter their initial meetings in the fall of 20Q¥e Border
Patrol did not keep Plaintiffs “in the loop” concerning decisions about constructing an
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iImproved access road to replace the BLM easement. (Wick, Tr. 2Z3n) April 16

2008, Mr. WickemaikedMr. Pena and Ms. Cooktating that héadreceived a telephone

call from apotentialcontractor bidding on théanuary 22, 2008 RFP. (Wick, Tr. 334
seealso(DX 10.) Before receivinghat call, Mr. Wick did not know thaheroad across
Plaintiffs’ property would bea commnentof the larger PR225 project. See(DX 10)

(“What was interesting about yesterday’s call is that apparently the scope of work for the
Project has been expanded to include the building of an access road from Alta Road to
the Otay Truck Trail.”).

As part of hisApril 16 email Mr. Wick sentMr. Pena and Ms. Cook third
alignment which he believedvould have the leastidverseémpact onthe Landowners’
property (Wick, Tr. 23638); seealso (DX 10.) The parties ultimately agreed tttat
third alignnent, whichis known for the purposes of this case“*Asignment 4! See
(Wick, Tr. 192; Miller, Tr. 679 Ms. Trudy Vinger,a realty specialist with the Los
Angeles District of the Corps, algarticipatel for the Governmenn the negotiations
along with Mr. Miller. (Vinger, Tr. 733-34, 736-37); saiso(Miller, Tr. 668.)

On May 13, 2008, Mr. Wick met witlbovernment officialsincludingMr. Pena
and Mr.Miller, at the Alta Cafe in San Dieg@ounty. Wick, Tr. 239;Mill er, Tr. 658.)
The parties discussed an agreer@Aprinciple and walked along thectual proposed
alignment. (Wick, Tr. 240; Miller, Tr. 658.) At thabeeting, Mr. Wick said the
improvedroad should bé60-foot wide with asphalt, curbs, sidewa#ind appropriate
drainage.” (Miller, Tr. 659.) The next day, Mr. Wick sent amail to Mr. Pena
memorializing the May 13 meetingSee(JX 27.) Heincluded an attached maetting
out the finalalignment. Seeid. In his email Mr. Wick stated that thérst segment of the
road “will be built to County standards,” the second segment “will be two paved lanes
with shoulders and drainajeand the third segment “will also be two paved lanes with
shoulders and drainagkeut no curbs, gutters or sidewalkslt. On theattached map,
Mr. Wick made notes indicatintpat the first two segments would beGounty standards
and the third segment would be “two lamgl)y paved, no curbs or darts (Wick, Tr.
244); sealso(JX 27).

During trial, Mr. Wick estified that he never told theo@ernment officialsvhat
he specificallymeant by the termicounty standards.”(Wick, Tr. 13031.) Instead, he
sent the October 17, 2007 email with the Public Road Standards attachments and visually
showed Mr. Pena what the Landowners expected. (Wick, Tr. 18ttjial, Mr. Wick
explained that the Landowners needbdroad improvedio Countystandards because
they expected to dedicate it to San Diego County. (Wick, Tr. 131-32.) The only way that
San Diego County wouldccepta dedication was if the road webeilt to its standards
and specifications. (Wick, Tr. 132.)

On July 3, 2008Ms. Cook sent Mr. Wick a draft cdin agreement that the Corps
had composed (Stip. 22); seealso (JX 35) The draft stated that the road would be
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built to “County specificatioa standards.”(JX 35.) On July 7, 2008, Mr. Wick sent the
draft back taMs. Codk with his edits. See(JX 36.) Mr. Wick addedwo pages of text to
the draft includingan attorney’sfees provision. (Cook, Tr. 570 seealso(JX 36.) He

also added a provision for the Government to vacate the existing BLM easefamt.
(JX 36.) Ms. Cook forwarded Mr. Wick’s edits to other Government officials, including
Mr. Pena and Ms. VingerSee(Cook, Tr. 57273.) Mr. Wick’s attorneysmade edits to
the document as wellSee(DX 24.)

The Corpsreturneda reviseddraft to Mr. Wick, which Mr. Wick and Ms. Cook
further revised in his office. (Cook, Tr. 57%); seealso (JX 74.) Specifically,
concerning attorney'tees, Ms. Coolexplainedto Mr. Wick thatthe Landownergould
not be awarded attorney fees unless ther@ere a waiver of sovereign immunity
therefore,Ms. Cook and Mr. Wickchanged the paragrapb allow for attornels fees
only asprovided by law. (Cook, Tr. 57%6); seealso (JX 74.) The parties also
exchanged another draft of the agreem&wae(Cook, Tr. 577; DX 94.)

On July 25, 2008, Ms. Cook sent Mr. Wick an updated drat@Exhibit 1 map
See(DX 28.) This \ersionof Exhibit 1 first included the ingebox, which showeda
drawing of a typical San DiegBountyroad section and listed five elemenisder the
heading, “County spec road includes(l) asphalt concrete pavemeif®) Portland
cement concrete cuik gutter; (3) sidewalk(4) streetlights, if applicable;(5) striping”
Id. The Government addekeinset box to ensure that the contrdefined “County spec
road.” (Miller, Tr. 66869.) Mr. Miller instructed Baker Engineering to prepare the inset
box, whichBaker Engineerindpased on Mr. Miller’s conversations with Mr. Wiakout
the definition of “county road. (Miller, Tr. 669, 72223) On July 28, Mr. Wick
responded to Ms. Cook withis changes tdhe map buthe made no changés the inset
box. See(DX 28.)

D. The Auqust 6, 2008 Contract

On behalf ofthe LandownerdVir. Wick signed the final version of the R&Eon
July 31, 2008; MrBaker, the contracting officer for the Corpsgned iton behalf ofthe
Government on August 6, 200§ Stip. 1 24);seealso(JX 39.) The Reambleto the
contract states:

The undersigned, hereinafter called the “Owner,” in
consideration of payment of the sum of One Dollar and the work
herein to be performed, to be paid by the UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA, hereinafter called the “Government,” for all land or
easement rights henafter described in Exhibit 1, (the property),
hereby grants to the Government, a rghentry upon the
following terms and conditions:



(JX 39.) Paragraph 1 of ti®OE-C explainghat the owner gives an irrevocable right to
enter the lands described in Exhibit 1 to the Government at any time for a period of
twelve months “in order to perform work related to the construction and maintenance of
two (2) access roads . . . to be constructed to County specifications standards, and paving
that portion of theDtay Truck Trail as shown in Exhibit 1.Id. Paragraph 7 describes

the new easement tobe conveyedto the Government: “In consideration of the
construction of the permanent improvement described in Paragraovk, owner
hereby agrees to convey to lBevernment, easements as set forth in Exhibit 2, in, upon,
over and across those tracts of land depicted in ExhibitdlL.”"Paragraph 7 alsmparts

that the Government will provide the “[m]etes and bounds descriptions of the easements
tracts to be conveyed to the Governmenld. Paragraph 10 requires that the parties
execute documents as necessary to vacateritp@al BLM easement and to create the
new easement depicted in Exhibit 1. Id.

The ROEC also has twattachedexhibits. The finalExhibit 1 depicts the agreed
alignment ofthe improvedaccess road Id. It includes theinset box with thesection
headed County spec road includes,” listinge same five element41) asphalt concrete
pavementy2) Portlaml cement concrete curb & gutt€B) sidewalk;(4) street lights, if
applicable;(5) striping” Compareid., with (DX 28.) Exhibit 2 is a description of the
easement to be provided to the Government. (JX 39.)

E. Post-Contractual Disagreement and Negotiations

On September 10, 2008, the Corps sent a letter to Granite notifyihgt ithe
Corpswould beexeacising Option 2. (Miller, Tr. 669 seealso(JX 41.) On October 3,
2008, Mr. Wick metwith representatives of Granite and the Government. (Wick, Tr.
177.) Mr. Wick testifiedhat he told theepresentatives of the Government the road had
to be builtto County standardsind it was the responsibility of the Government to go to
the County to ensure compliance with those standards. (Wick, Tr. 180.) Granite sent a
letter to the Corps on October 6, 2008 about the meeting, stating:

During this discussion it became clear that the scope of work that
Mr. Wick had in mind was different than the RFP or our
proposal. According to Mr. Wick, Granite would Design and
Install; a new undergroundlectric line, lighting, water main,
relocation of back flow preventer, Fire protection linés
hydrants, coordination with power company, coordination with
water company, all permits and fees associated with the design
and construction of the new utilities.

(IX 43))



On November 13, 2008, the Corps learned ith&ranite were to incorporatéhe
additional elementsto the roadmprovementasMr. Wick insisted construction would
cost $2.32 million, about $520,000 more thamstimated See (JX 47.) Also on
November 13, Mr. Wickemaiked Mr. Penastating that he had not heaback from
anyone involved in building the road for over a month and inquiring aboudrtpect’s
status. (JX 45.) On November,17008,Ms. Cook and Mr. Miller participateth a
conference call with various oth&overnment officials involved in the projectSee
(Miller, Tr. 705-07.) The purpose of the call was to present a breakdown of the $520,000
in additional funds required. (Miller, Tr. 706.) Ms. Cook rememlbieas in the course
of this meeting, the Corps asked heslie wuld contact Mr. Wick onts behalf and
negotiate a resolution as to the meanintGdunty Standards.(Cook, Tr. 58334.) Mr.
Miller, in contrast, does not recall anyone on the phoneas&ihgMs. Cook to call Mr.
Wick. (Miller, Tr. 707.) After the phone call, with Mr. Flossman’s approwval, Miller
began to draft a change management request (“CMRRKingthe FMNE for $520,00th
additional funding forthe project (Flossman, Tr. 533; Miller, Tr. 680.) Howevy.
Miller never circulated the CMRecausehe Government officials instructed hiro
incorporate a different route instead. (Miller, Tr. 719.)

Ms. Cook called Mr. Wick on November 18, 2008. (Wick, Tr. 184; Cook, Tr.
584.) Here too, the parties haweontrasting memoriess to the content otheir
conversation. Mr. Wick remembeMs. Cook saying that the Government did navd
enough money to meé#te contractual road improvement requirements. (Wick, - 18
85.) Therefore hesuggestedraalternativealignment. (Wick, Tr. 185.) They discussed
returning to the alignment perpendicular to Donovan State Prison (Alignmemdl)Ms.
Cook toldMr. Wick that she would get back to him._Id.

Ms. Cook, on the other handemembers callingvWr. Wick to saythat she
understood there was a dispute concerning the meanif@ooity Sandards.” (Cook,
Tr. 584.) Shethen merely acknowledgetiat the road was gettirfgwfully expensive.”
(Cook, Tr.585) Mr. Wick thensuggested retuimmg to Alignment 1. Id. Ms. Cook
denies telling Mr. Wick the Government could not afford to build the road from the ROE-
C, in that or any subsequent conversatiSee(Cook, Tr. 600.)

After herNovember 1&onversatiowith Mr. Wick, Ms. Cook asked the Corps to
determine how much mondiie Government would sau®/ returning to Aignment 1.
(Cook, Tr. 586.) The Corps analyzed the two alignments and determined that returning
to Alignment 1 would cost an additional $405,0@@mpared wh $520,000 from
incorporating the additional elements into Alignment 4. (Miller, Tr. 687-88.)

On December 2, 2008, after the Corps had determined that returning to Alignment
1 would not save muclincremental moneyMr. Wick and Ms. Cook spoke agairBee
(Cook, Tr.589-92) The contents ofhat conversation alsare in dispute. Ms. Cook
remembers tellindg/r. Wick that Aignment 1was notmuchcheapertheythen began to
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argue about the additionalementsunder Alignment 4 (Cook, Tr. 59192.) Ms. Cook
testified that Mr. Wick said the andownes no longerwere interested in Agnment 4
because they could nofully develop along that alignment (Cook, Tr. 591.)
Archaeological concerrsgad emergedwvhichwould requiresome land to be left as open
space. (Cook, Tr. 592.) Ms. Cookcalls Mr. Wicksaying that if the Governmewntould
agreeto returnto Alignment 1 the Landowners would pay for fire hydrants and water
lines. Id; seealso(JX 53.)

Mr. Wick remembersnerelytrying to convinceMs. Cod to convey to the Corps
that Alignment Iwould be cheaper becauske Landowners already hgdaded along jt
the route had narcleological mitigation cost@ndthe Landowners alreadad installed
laterals for watersewer and dry utilities. (Wick, Tr. 3P-22.) Mr. Wick deniestelling
Ms. Cook that the Landowners did not wardigAment4, asidentified in the contract.
(Wick, Tr. 186.) He also denigslling her that there wereemaining archaeological
concerns requiring land to be left as open space. (Wick, Tr87,88203, 321-22.)

On December 52008 Ms. Cook sent aemail toMr. Wick and his attorneysn
the status of the post-contractual negotiatiddse(Cook, Tr. 593-94.) The email stated:

The engineers at the Corps of Engineers are in the processing
[sic] of submitting a recommended change order to management
at Customs and Border Protection, recommending/requesting that
the Otay Truck Trail access road be located alongligament
we've referred to asAlignment 1 (attached) and that the
necessary funding be allocated to complete the road. This is the
alignment that you have indicated to me that you prefer. | expect
quick and favorable action on this request.

Accordingly, the Corps’ Real Estate Attorneys and | are in the
process of redrafting and updating the previous Right of Entry to
this new Alternative.

(JX 55.) Ms. Coolconcluded themail “Please let me know right away if you have any
guestions, or if | have stated anything incorrectlyd. She never received alirect
response from Mr. Wick or his attorneyghohad received copies. (Cook, Tr. 595.)

Whatever the nature of the exchanges between Ms. Cook and Mr. Wick, the result
was that by early Decembef008, the Corps understood Mr. Wick no longeas
interested in pursuinglignment 4 andnsteadpreferred Alignment 1. (Miller, Tr. 689)

(“[I] n the case of Alternative 1, we had an understanding that Mr. Wick supported that
particular choice and that he was no longer interestedumnsuing Alternative 4 as
originally agreed to.”)(Flossman, Tr. 533) (explaining that he understood the change in
alignment as being something theahdownersvanted). Mr. Miller presented the two
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options to Mr. Flossman artde otheiGovernment officis in a conference call. (Mét,

Tr. 689.) The officialsnformed Mr. Miller that if Alignment lwas bothless expensive
and what thd.andowners wantedhén the Corps should agree to retiorrAlignment 1.
(Miller, Tr. 689.) Mr. Miller changed thdraft CMR to reflect the change mignment
and theadditional $405,00@n funding. (Miller, Tr. 69192.) Mr. Flossmarsigned the
CMR in December 2008See(JX 57.) Because the Government believed that the parties
would have to agree to an entirglgw right-of-entryreflecting the changeMs. Vinger
waited to complete or act on the signed CMEee(Vinger, Tr. 74244.)

Despiteagreeing on Alignment 1, theartiescould not agreen the length of the
preexisting BLMeasement to be vacatedder their revised bargain. (Wick, Tr. 194;
Flossnan, Tr. 53536.) At trial, Mr. Michael Hance, &8order Patrol Operations Officer,
testified that undeAlignment 4 from the August 6, 2008ROE-C, the Border Patrol
would havehad access to canyons it needed &mforcemenoperations. (Hance, Tr.
79698.) Under Alignment 1, however, the Border Patrol would Ima¢e access
therefore, the Government no longmuld vacate the full BLM easement. (Wick, Tr.
194; Hance, Tr. 7988.) Mr. Flossman understood Mr. Wick t@ate thata failure to
vacatethe full BLM easementwvould bea “deal breaker;’thus, the parties reached an
impasse. (Flossman, Tr. 535-36.)

On August 142009, Mr. Wick andhis colleaguéMis. Lindsay Arobone, an asset
manager for SD @mmercial,met with variousGovernment officialsincluding Mr. Brett
Koerting, Mr. Bijan Nooranbakhtand Mr. Eric Eldridgein Mr. Wick's office; Ms.
Vinger attended telephonically (Wick, Tr. 19798.) Theofficials explained thathe
Border Patrol hathstructed thento stop the road improvement project. (Wick, Tr. 199.)
Mr. Wick became angry and threatened to sue. (Wick, Tr. 200.) On August 24, 2009
Mr. Wick sent a letter to the Corps entit/éBemand for Performance of August 2008
Contract.” (Stip. T 33; seealso(PX 150.) The Government did not respond tat th
letter. (Stip. 1 34.)

Consequently, the Governmetiécided not to exercis@®ption 2in its separate
agreementith Granite. (Riley, Tr. 810.)Mr. James Rileythenan office engineer for
the Corps prepared and negotiated change order. (Riley, Tr. 8009.) The
Government was entitled to a citedf $190,000from Granite forOption 2 (Riley, Tr.
810, 814.) However, the Government had to reimburse Grimmitee additional costs
that Granite would incuin bulding the borderfence withoutaccesgrom the west.See
(Riley, Tr. 81112) The Government estimates that wheditional costs it incurred
because Granite did not have accassossPlaintiffs’ propety amounted td$463,564
(Def.’s PostTrial Br. 23); seealso (Riley, Tr. 812.) Furthermore, Granitalreadyhad
completed all design work by the time Option 2 was deleted, as well as preliminary work
such aghe stabilization of slopeand “Sewer Modeton Prevention ppgrams.” (Riley,
Tr. 813.) On balance, the Governmeeimbursed Granite approximatehi.6 million
for a road that never was constructed. (Riley, Tr. 814.)
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F. Expert Testimony at Trial

Plaintiffs presented two expert witnessgdrial. Ms. Cynthia Eldred testified as
an expert on San Diedoountyland use.See(Eldred, Tr.44,59.) Ms. Eldred has been
an attorney for ovetwwentyyears See(Eldred, Tr. 45.)Twentypercent of her practice is
real estate and 8fercen is landuse. (Eldred, Tr. 46.) Mosf her work is inSan Diego
County (Eldred, Tr. 4546.) Ms. Eldred testified as to what would be required to build
the road per Plaintiffs’ understandingpf “County specifications standards.”See
generally(PX 163.) Sheletermined that the improved access road described in the ROE-
C would have to be “a 6&et widthNon-Circulation Element Industrial/Collectordad
under the roadway classifications and standards of the County of San”Didgat 5.

Ms. Eldred identified threapplicable documents: “(2he 2007 East Otay Mesa specific
plan; (2) the 1999 public roadstandards; and (&)e 1998County depement of public
works proceduramanual.” (Eldred, Tr. 65.)Ms. Eldred said that a roambt meetingall

of the specifications shaescribed coulthe constructetbut, unless the roathet all of the
specificationsthe unty would not approve or accept it as a public road. (Eldred, Tr.
83-84.)

On the cost of building theoad, Plaintiffs presented the expert opinion Mf.
Leslie Knight. Mr Knight qualifiesas an expert in constructiazost estimation and
management in San Diedgoounty. See(Knight, Tr. 395.) At the time of trial,ehhad
approximately 39ears ofconstructiorexperience in the San Diego areeluding about
six years with Granite.See(Knight, Tr. 382, 3868.) Mr. Knight estimated thahe
total cost of building the road would 1$4,071,633.22. (Knight, Tr. 46@9); seealso
(PX 1628 2.1, at 2 To make his estimatége relied on the plans of Alta Consultants,
one of the Landowners’primary engineers for the development of their property.
(Knight, Tr. 476) Alta Consultants designed its plans basedPlaintiffs’ understanding
of “County specfications standards.”(Pls.” PostTrial Br. 23 (“The Alta Consultants
plans represent the road designed according to San Diego County road standeards.”).
requesting hiexpert report, Ms. Arobone wrote Mr. Knight a meamum See(DX
83.) In it ske instructed: “Thicost estimate will need tworntemplate the project’s cost
from start to finish, including but not limited to biological mitigation, archeological,
construction costs, engineering fees, construction management, permits, bidding, etc
‘the whole enchilada’’ 1d.

The Government's eert on the cost of building the roadas Mr. Chad
Hutchison Mr. Hutchison also qualifieasan expert in constructionostestimation and
management See (Hutchion, Tr. 826.) Hehad approximatelynineteen yearof
pertinentexperienceat the time of trial and provides training courses in bksmation
principles. See(Hutchison, Tr. 816, 82p To reachhis opinion, Mr. Hutchison reviewed
plansthat Granite had created for the constructiothefAlignment 4 road (Hutchson,
Tr. 827-28.) He estimated the total cost of timprovedroad at $1,708,185. (DX 98.)
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For the elements that both MKnight and Mr. Hutchison estimated, Mr. Knight priced
those commorelements at $1,586,199, $121,988s tharMr. Hutchison priced them
(DX 114)

Discussion

“To recoverfor breach of contract, a party must allege and establish: (1) a valid
contract between the parties; (2) an obligation or duty arising out of the contract; (3) a
breach of thatluty; and (4) damages caused by the bréacBan Carlos Irrigation and
Drainage Distv. United States877 F.2d 957959 (Fed. Cir. 1989). Plaintiffs assert that
the August 6, 200ROE-C isa legally binding contract. (P1$PostTrial Br. 26.) Under
the ROEC, the Government had an obligation to construct an imprmeat! to“County
specifications standards.Id. at 29. Plaintiffs argue that the Government breached the
August 6, 2008&ontract; it ‘hever built ay road” and fever executed thdocuments
necessary to extinguishe BLM easemerit. Id. at 27. When representatives from the
Government told Mr. Wickon August 14, 2009 thahey would not construct the rgad
and then ignored hisubsequent, writtemdemand for performance, the Government
therebybreachedthe contract Id. at 3336. Plaintiffs therefore assert that theye
entitled to damagesf $4,071,633.22, the cost of constructiayimprovedroad toall
SanDiego County specifications and standards.atch1-52.

Defendanimakesseveralcontentions as tahy it has no responsibility at alhder
the ROE-C The Governmenassertsthat theROE-C did not containa construction
obligation. (Def.’sPostTrial Br. 30-34) It alsoassertghat theparties did not have the
necessary meeting of the minds on a material term of the coatrd@bsent a meeting
of the mindsthere is no enforceabgreement Id. at 30, 3437. Defendanthen argues
that evenif there were the necessary mutual asséot a contract with a construction
obligation, Mr. Wick rescinded or waived the Government’s obligation through his
actions Id. at 30, 3741. Based on thisrgument of rescission or waiver, Defendant
finally asks the Courtto apply the doctrine oégutable estoppeto prevent faintiffs’
change in position from materially prejudicing the Government."al @0, 41-43.

The Courtfinds that therecord does not suppotefendant’scontentions in its
effortsto avoidcontractual liability The Court finds that there wassufficient meeting
of the minds such that the August 6, 20080OE-Cis an enforceable contraeatith a
construction obligation The Court also finds that the evidence does not MowVick
ever rescinded or waived his rights under the contract. However, the Coudgiees
with the scope of the construction obligatitrat Defendant proposesAs Defendant
states,te ROEC obliges the Government to construct an improved road, built consistent
with the elements listed in the indebx. Despite Plaintiffs’ contentions, the contract
does not require the Government to meet all of the standards and specifications necessary
to dedicate gublic road to San Diego County. By never building any r@adl then
repudiating its obligation in  August 2009, the Government breached tROE-C.
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Accordingdy, Plaintiffs are entitled ta@lamages for breach of contrabut damages are
limited to the cost of meeting only those road improvement elements speciistatlyin
Exhibit 1 to the contract.

A. The ROE-C Contains a Construction Obligation.

Defendant argues that the R@Econtainedno construction obligation. (Def.’s
PostTrial Br. 30.) Rather, Defendant submitisat thecontract gave the Governmeart
irrevocable right to enter the Landowners’ propddy twelve monthdrom the date of
the instrumento construct the twaccess roagto the border.ld. at 32. To Defendant,
Paragraph 1 of the ROE sets out the permissible grounds upon which Defermtantl
exercise its right but does not impose obligationg.oid. at 3233. Defendant interprets
Paragraph 7, which statedn consideration of the construction die permanent
improvement described in Paragraphaliove owner hereby agrees to convey to the
Governnent, easements as set forth in Exhibit 2,” as dictatiny Plaintiffs’ future
obligationto convey an easement in the event that the Government impte/esad
along it. 1d. at 33. Defendant is similarlglismissive of the Ramble explaining that the
Preamble grats the Governmenta right to enter‘upon the following terms and
conditions” and that none of thoserms and conditionsequiresthe construction of the
improved road._ldat 34.

Contract interpretatiostartswith the agreement’s “plain language Forman v.
United States329 F.3d 837, 842 (Fed. Cir. 200@juoting McAbee Constr., Inc. v.
United States97 F.3d 1431, 1435 (Fed. Cir. 1996))P]rovisions of a contract must be .
. . considered as a whole and interpreted so as to harmonize and give meaning to all of its
provisions.” Arizona v. United States216 Ct. Cl. 221, 575 F.2d 855, 863 (1978)
(internal citations omitted). The Court should avoid an interpretation that “leaves a
portion of [the contract]useless, inexplicable, inoperative, void, insignificant,
meaningless, superfluous, or achieves a weird and whimsical relsllt.

The Court finds that thplain meanig of the contractequiresthe Governmenio
construct an improved road. The Preamble of the ROE-C states:

[T]he ‘Owner,” in consideration of payment of the sum@he
Dollar andthework herein to be performed, to be paid by . . . the
‘Government,” for all land or easement rights hereinafter
described o Exhibit 1, (‘the propertyj, hereby grants to the
Government, a righof-entry upon the following terms and
conditions.

(JX 39.) Thus, the Preamble sets out the consideration that the Landowners are to receive
in exchange for theight-of-entryto construct the twaccess roal The grant of the
right-of-entry for one Dollar is conditioned oa secondary exchangen easemento
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access the border from the wegt the Otay Truck Trail, in exchander the permanent
improvement of the newly servient landVithout the easement faroad exchange, no
right-of-entryis granted. The Government’s interpretation seadtof the ROEC the
languageset forth in the Preamble, making the Preamble supedluoGuch an
interpretation is untenablenderthe longstandingArizona v. United Stateprecedent
The contract contains a construction obligation.

B. The Parties Had a Meeting of the Minds to ConstituetRoadConsistent with
the Improvements Listed in the Inset Box.

The Government argues that there is no enforceable contract because theye was
mutual assent as the scope of theoadconstruction improvements, an essential term in
the ROEC. (Def.’s PosiTrial Br. 30, 3437.) At the time Plaintiffs entereshto the
contract they beleved “County pecifications standartisneant theGovernment would
construct an improverbad, whichcould be dedicated to San DieGounty,andthat the
Government would go to theoGnty toascertainwhat its standards were. (Wick, Tr.
12021, 13133) The Government, in contrastinderstood County specifications
standards”to be limited only to those elements specificallisted in the inset box
(Miller, Tr. 66869.) Defendantasserts that this disagreema@mpels theCourt to
discharge it of all responsibilities under the ROE-C.

Courts are disinclined to find a contragholly unenforceable because there was
no meeting of the mindsConsumerdce Ca v. United States?201 Ct.CIl. 116 475 F.2d
1161, 1165 (1973) (stating Courgenerallywill not find that no contract existedn
account ofno meeting of the minds “if there is any reasonable meagw/iof effect to
the contract at isstie Can.Life AssuranceCo. v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. ofrA, 242 F.
Supp.2d 344, 356 (P.N.Y. 2003)(“Not every misunderstanding between the parties
following execution of an agreement could possibly void a contract, since almost any
contractual dispute is based on some disappointment of expestaticBourts will find
that therevasno meetng of the mind®nly if the dispute goes to the heart of the contract
and there is “no sensible basis for choosing between conflicting understandiuifaX
Envelope Corp. v. Local No. 458M, 20 F.3d 750, 7537th Cir. 1994) (internal
guotations omitted). A party may abandon a contract without liability only where there
exists merely an arbitrary basis for deciding whose understanding to enforce because
neither party is at greater fault for the misunderstandir®ee id. Thus, contract
abandonment is not appropriate one party’s understanding iselatively more
reasonable If one party hadreason to believe the other partyrgerpretation of the
contract, then the other party’s interpretation prevéle id. at 754.

The Court does not believe that the partidsageement about the meaningtbé
term “County specifications standards” requiiego find that there was no enforceable
contract whatsoever First, the Court finds that thdisagreemenbver the scope athe
term’s constructiomloes nogo to the heart of the ROGE. The heart of the contractas
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right-of-entry to construct two access roads in exchange for one Dollar, contingent upon a
secondary exchange ofnaeasement for the construction of @ermanent road
improvement along it. The scope of that improvemsriiuta lesser detail. There are
many ways in which the parties could have disagreed about the sciygecohstruction
obligation,and the Court will not allovguch disagreemeid undermine the heart of the
bargain.

Second, the parties did not have equally reasonable understandingsthas to
meaning of the term“County specifications standartls The Government’s
understanding was more reasonable. Mr. Wick states he told Mr. Pena and Ms. Cook that
the improved road needetb be built to “San Diegospecifications and standards.”
(Wick, Tr. 12326.) At trial, Mr. Wickdescribed how hdéaad communicatethe meaning
of the term to the Government officials:

| provided them the front page of a document where one would
go to, to get started to find out what the scope of county standard
roadsentail. | verbalized to them in various meetings, you know,
sidewalks, curbs, gutters, so forth and so on just to give the
framework. And then | gave them a site tour of improvements
that we had completed through the County of San Diego not too
far from the subject property so they would understand what a
collector road entailed to k#onein order to be accepted by the
county.

(Wick, Tr. 268.) Based ortheir conversations with Mr. Wickand with Baker
EngineeringMr. Miller, Ms. Cook, and Ms. Vingeaddedthe inset box tanemorialize

the definition of“County specifications standartdspplicable to the ROE. (Miller, Tr.
66869.) Tle elements listed in thbox wereconsistent with the information Mr. Wick
had provided Mr. Pena itis October 17, 200&mail Compare(JX 4), with (JX 39.)
Giventhe actual informatioMr. Wick had provided, theelementghat the Government
ultimately listed in the inset boxvere areasonable interpretation of the ter@cunty
specifications standards.Therefore it is reasonable to understand all references in the
ROE-C to“County specification standards” as referring to the definition of that term in
the inset box.

By contrastMr. Wick’s understanding of the terms notreasonable. Mr. Wick
interprets “Countyspecifications standard€d mean an improvedroad that could be
dedicated to th€ounty There is nowritten evidence documenting any communication
between Mr. Wick and the Government, to demonsttaeheexpected the Government
to approach the County to ascertain and comply with all specifications necessary to
dedicatea publicroad. If Mr. Wick believed “County specificatisrstandards” impelled
the Government to construct a road that could be dedicated totimdyChe should have
ensuredsuch adefinition wasarticulated expresslin the ROEC. Further, once the
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Government added the inset box,. M¥ick should have been on notice to the fact that the
Government believed the scope of construction includeygthose elementspecifically
listed Otherwise, the Government would haaadded an entirely useless section to the
contract in disregard ofthe teachings ofrizona v. United States Finally, if, after
seeing the inset box, Mr. Wick continued to believe the definition of “County
specifications standards” meant a road that could be dedicated Gouingy, then there
was a patent ambiguity in the contrabiout whichMr. Wick had a duty to inquireSee
Newsom v. United State230 Ct.Cl. 301, 676 F.2d 647, 649 (1982). Under thatent
ambiguity doctrinethe Government’s interpretation of “County specifications standards”
prevails because MrWick failed to inquire about the true meaning of an objectively
ambiguous termSeeTriax Pac., Inc. v. Wesfi30 F.3d 1469, 1475 (Fed. Cir. 1997).

Plaintiffs posit four argumentgrounded irthe text of the RO, as towhy only
their interpretation of the term “County specifications standardsasonable anaihy
the insetbox list isnot exhaustive: (1) if the inset box wholly defirtee elements of the
improvedroad, it would have been headed “specifications for this contract” rather than
“County ecifications standards(Pls.” PostTrial Resp.Br. 13); (2) the capital'C” in
“County specificatios standardshecessarily implieshat the standards to be used are
those of theCountyin which the road is to be builid. & 26-27; (3) the list isnot
exhaustive because itseading states,County Sec Road hcludes, and the word
“includes” means [t]o have or take in as a part or membaet, at 13-14(internal citation
omitted);and(4) the phraséif applicable” after “street lights in the inset boxindicates
that there is at least one other document demonstratthgther street lights are
applicable,idat 14.

The Courtdoes not find these arguments convincing. The elements iistheé
inset boxall are requirements to dedicate a roadSan Diego County “County
specifications standards” could reféo some official County standards without
necessarily referring to all of them. Likewise, the word “incid®es notonly applyto
exhaustive listssometimest is used fomon-exhaustive onesFinally, evenf the usage
of “if applicable”is problematic, the Court does not understand the phoassean
automaticallythat theROE-C required the Governmeit meet al of the specifications
necessaryo dedicate the improved road to the County.

Furthermore, irtheir response brief, Plaintiftsriticize Defendant’s interpretation
of “County specifications standardsis makingno practical sense. (Pls.” Pdgtal
Resp. Br. 41.) Plaintiffs question wieutilities would go, how Plaintiffslessees,
vendors, and customers would access the land, and whether the public could enter the
land. 1d. These were concerns, howewdrthe Landownerandnot of the Government.
As Mr. Pena and Mr. Miller testified, the Government merely needed access across
Plaintiffs’ property,to the border andhe burgeoning fence.See (Pena, Tr. 3553;
Miller, Tr. 647-48.)
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Since Defendant ha@ reasonableunderstanding of‘County specifications
standards’and Plaintiffsdid not,the Court adopt®efendant’s reasonable understanding
of the term. Thus, the Government did not haveotustructa roadconfaming toall of
the specificationsecessary for dedication to San Diggounty However, thdROE-C is
enforceable and obligetie Government to construct a road conforming to eddhe
elements specifically listed in the inset box.

C. Rescission, WaiveandEquitable Estoppddefenses

Defendantargues that even if, as the Court has found, thean ignforceable
contract with a construction obligation, there is no liability because Mr. Wick rescinded
or waived the Landowners’ rights under tROE-C (Def.’s PosfTrial Br. 30, ¥-41.)
Further,Defendant argues that the doctrimfeequitable estoppddars Plaintiffs’ claims
Id. at 30, 4143. All three of these arguments are groundedhe same set of facts,
stemming from the December 2, 2008nversation between Ms. Cook and Mr. Wick.
The Government contendbat Mr. Wick told Ms. Cook Plaintiffs no longer wanted
Alignment 4 but instead wantédignment 1 Id. at 38. It alscassets thatMr. Wick's
conduct after the December 2, 2008 conversation demonkstrateo longertreatd the
ROE-C as remaining operative (Def.’s PosfTrial Resp. Br. 24.) The Court is not
persuaded by these arguments.

1. Rescission

Where ‘each party agrees to discharge all of the other padywminingduties of
performance under an existing contract,there is an agreement of rescission.
Restatement (Secondf Contracts 8§ 283(1§1981). “The validity of an agreement to
rescind a contract is controlled by the same rules as in the case of other contracts; there
must exist an offer by one party and an unconditional acceptance of that precise offer by
the other, prior to withdrawal bthe offeror, before a binding agreement is bor29
Samuel Williston& Richard A. Lord, A Treatis®n the Law of Contracts § 73:1®@th
ed. 1993 (internal footnote omigtd). In addition torescission through writingcontracts
may be rescinded orally or through the conduct of the partMsnt. Bank of Circle,

N.A. v. United States7 Cl. Ct. 601, 610 (1985) (“Abandonment of a contract is a
guestion of fact that may be shown by a written contract, verbal agreement or by acts and
conduct.”). Where conductescindsa @mntract “[tjhe acts of the parties must be positive,
unequivocal and inconsistent with an intent to be further bound by the conthtico

& Assocs. v. United States23 CI. Ct.635, 642 (1991) (quotingrmour & Co. v. Celi¢

294 F.2d 432, 43@d Cir. 1961). Since Defendardsserts rescission, Defendaas the
burden of provinghatrescission.SeeKlamath Irrigation Distv. United States635 FE3d
505, 520 n.12 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (“All elagainbeing equal, courts should avoid requiring
a party to shoulder the more difficult task of proving a negatiVée general rule is that

a party that asserts the affirmative of an issue has the burgeovoigthe facts essential

to its claim.” (quoting Auburndale State Bank v. Dairy Farm Leasing Co890 F.2d
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888, 893 (7th Cir. 1989)) Armour & Co, 294 F.2d at 436 (“The termination of a
contract is not presumed, and the burden of establishing it rests upon the party who
asserts it.”).

Defendaris rescission argument is groundedaigatementMs. Cook remembers
Mr. Wick making intheir December 2, 2008 phone conversati@ee(Def.’s PostTrial
Br. 38.) According to Ms. Cook, Mr. Wicgaid “We're not interested in Alignment 4
any more, we can’t develop along it. There’s archeological concerns, and some of it's
going to haved be left as open space. So we’d really like to go bagk]tternative 1.”
(Cook, Tr. 59192.) Mr. Wick denies telling Ms. Cook th#te Landownergequired the
different algnment or that archaeologial concernsprecluded them from fully
developing the landalong the roadway. (Wick, Tr. 1&&.) Rather, Mr. Wick relates
suggesting Alignment hecause the Government had said it did not have sufficient funds
to constructAlignment 4andbecauséie believed the Border Patislingress and egress
under Alignment 1 would be less intrusive to the Landowners’ use of their profey.
(Wick, Tr. 18586.)

In reviewing the conflictingrial testimony, the Court finds that while Mr. Wick
may have expressed a preference for one alignment over the loghekpression of a
mere preference did not rise to an offer for rescissioikven under Ms. Cook’
recollection,Mr. Wick’s statementslid not amount to @ unequivocal disavowal dahe
ROE-C. He never went so far as to expressraantionto dissolve the binding contract
between the parties. Further, there is not a single pie@®rmdémporaneous written
evidence showing that Mr. Wick wanted an alignment other Al@mment 4. Although
a contract can be rescinded orally, the Court finds it suspicious that wathtladlemails
exchanged between Mr. Wick atite Government, Mr. Wicknever once mentioned
writing that he was requesting a new alignmenthat he no longer wished be bound
by the contractuabne Indeed, in hiontemporaneous writisgn the issueMr. Wick
statedhis belief that the partiestill had a binding ontract. See e.g, (PX 120) (“We
have a signed agreement with the Border Patrol regarding this entire project.”); (JX 65.)

Defendant argues thdahe conduct of bottparties showsachacted as if the
contract had beeabandoned. (Def.’s Pastial Resp.Br. 24, 2628); seealso (Def.’s
PostTrial Br. 40) The Government clearly acted as if the contract had been abandoned.
Mr. Miller prepared and signed a change management request, which changed the
alignment from Alignment 4 to Wgnment 1,to accommodte what the Government
believed was the Landowrsrequest. (Flossman, Tr. 533; Miller, Tr. 680, 698.) The
Governmentalso stoped taking steps to executee ROEC; for example, MsVinger
did not follow up with the BLM to vacate thpreexisting easemeriiecause she
understood that the Governmewbuld have to renegotiate the contract entiggiyen the
change imlignment. (Vinger, Tr. 7423.) However, it is insufficient foDefendanto
show onlythat the Government acted as if the ROHmad been rescinded; Defendant
must show that both parties treated the contract a®perative SeeArmour & Cg, 294
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F.2d at 437 ‘T o establish abandonment the evidence must . . . point positively and
unequivocally to an intention on the part of both parties to abandon it.”).

Defendant relatesnvo instancesn which Ms. Cook insinuated that the contract
had been rescindednd Mr. Wickdid not quarrel withher statement In an email dated
December 5, 2008, & Cook told Mr. Wick that she and the Corps were in the process of
“redrafting and updating” the previous righf-entry. (JX 55.) Likewise,ni anemail
dated March 4, 20QMs. Cookrecountedto a number of Government officialelling
Mr. Wick thatthe Government would condenafternative land ithe parties could not
reach an agreementee(JX 62.) The Courfinds that Mr. Wick’s apparensilence in
both instances is not sufficient to shbes unequivocallyntended to rescind the ROE-C.

Additionally, Defendant argues that Mr. Wick treathé ROEC as abandoned
after December 2, 2008, when he filed an action for trespass @fieernment
representatives brougbonstruction equipment on to the Landowngnsiperty (Def.’s
PostTrial Resp. Br. 24.) If proven, this argument migbtpersusive evidence that Mr.
Wick acted as if the contract had been rescinded. How®efgndant providesio
evidence showing that the Government in fact was using the construction equipment in
compliance with theontract or any other evidence on the circumstances surrounding the
allegedtrespass or Plaintiffs’ reasons for filing the trespass action. For the above
reasons, Mr. Wick did not rescind the Landowners’ rights under the ROE-C.

2. Waiver

“A waiver is an intentional relinquishment of a known right A Olympic
Forwarder, Inc. v. United State33 Fed. Cl. 514, 521 (1995) (internal citations omitted)
A party may “waive any provision, either of a contract or a statute, intended for his
benefit.” Shutte v. Thompser82 U.S. 151, 1591872). “Waiver reuires (1) the
existence at the time of the waiver a right, privilege, advantage or benefit that may be
waived; (2) the actual or constructive knowledge thereof; and (3) an intention to
relinquish such right, privilegeadvantager benefit” Youngdale & Sons Constr. Co. v.
United States22 CI. Ct. 345, 347 (199XyjuotingIn re Garfinkle 672 F.2d 1340, 1347
(11th Cir. 1982)). “Waivers of rights must be voluntary, knowing, and intelligent acts
done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstasceddikely consequencés.
Krzeminski v. United Statesl3 CI. Ct. 430, 438 (1987). “Waiver is an affirmative
defense, as to which the breaching party bteedurden of proof.”_Westfed Holdiag
Inc. v. United Statest07 F.3d 1352, 1360 (Fed. Cir. 2005).

The Government argues that Mr. Wick’s suggestmreturn to Alignment land
his apparentattempts @ convince Ms. Cook that the alternatiségnment would be
cheaperamounted t@ waiver of the Landownersontractualight to construction under
Alignment 4. (Def.’sPostTrial Br. 41.) The Court, howevedoes not find that this
evidencerises toan intentional relinquishment of Plaintiffaght to have themproved
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road constructedt all Mr. Wick may lave expressed preference for Alignment 1, but
the evidence does not shdlat he waived the Landownergght to Alignment 4in the
event the parties could not agree to an alternative arrangement.

3. Equitable Estoppel

Equitable estoppas “administered in favor abne who has been induced to alter
his line of conduct with respect to the subject matter in controversy so as to have
foregone some right or remedy which he otherwise would have.talkaiston Purina
Co. v. United States5 Ct.Cl. 525, 58 F.2d 1065, 1068 (1932). The doctrawuires a
showing of:

(1) misleading conduct, which may include not only statements
and actions but silence and inaction, leading another to
reasonably infer that rights will not be asserted against it; (2)
reliance upon this conduct; and (3) due to this reliance, material
prejudice if the delayed assertion of such rights is permitted.

Lincoln Logs Ltd. v. Lincoln Pr€ut Log Homes, In¢.971 F.2d 732, 734Fed. Cir.
1992) (citingA.C. Aukerman Co. v. R.L. Chaides Const. &%0 F.2d 1020, 1028 (Fed

Cir. 1992) (en bang) The Court finds that the facts of this case do not justify allat
estoppel as Defendant was not reasonable in believing that Mr.Wdiaki not demand
performance othe August 6, 2008ROE-C To reiterate, despite discussing a possible
alternativealignment, Mr. Wick never stated that he was abandoning his contractual right
to Alignment 4. Defendant'osition is even lesseasonable in light of Mr. Wick’s
March 31, 2009%mail in which heavowed, YWe have a signed agreement with the
Border Patrol regarding this entire project” and then added, “We trust that our
government will honor it's [sic] agreement with us.” (PX 12&quitable estoppel does

not bar Plaintiffs’ claims.

D. Plaintiffs Are Entitled to Damages for the Cost of Constructing an Improved
Road Consistent with the Elements Listed in the Inset Box.

The parties agree that the proper measure of damages is expectancy damages, the
benefits the noibreaching party expected to receive had the breach not occiBes.
(Pls.” PostTrial Br. 51; Def's PostTrial Br. 43; see alsoGlendale FedBank, FSB v.
United States239 F.3d 1374, 1380 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (“One way the law makes the non
breaching party whole is to give him the benefits he expected to receitbehbreach
not occurred.”) Thus, both parties agree that the amount of damages wouldtbgual
cost ofconstructing the improverbad described in the contract. However, because of
their differing interpretations of the term “County specifications standatils, parties
offered widely different estimates as to how much it would cost to build that road.
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At trial, Plaintiffs presentedhe expert testimony of M&ldred, whatestified as to
San Diego County’s prerequisites to approve construction and to accept a road for public
dedication. (Eldred, Tr. 884.) Plaintiffs’ damages expert, Mr. Knight, interpreted
“County specification standards” to mean a road that could be dedicated to the County.
(Pls.” PostTrial Br. 52.) In his cost estimate, he therefore incorporatkdf the
elements that Ms. Eldred expressed as prerequisiBeeid. at 52-56. Mr. Knight
estimate that constructinghe road would cost $4,071,633.22. (Knight, Tr.-098; see
also(PX 162 § 2.1, at 2.)

By contrastDefendant’'s expertr. Hutchison calculatechis cost estimate from
plansthat the contractoGranitehad derivednly from those elements listaad the inset
box of the ROEC. (Hutchison, Tr.827-28); seealso (DX 122) Mr. Hutchison
estimated that building the improved road would cost $1,708,185. (DX 98.)

For thereasonsstated in this pinion, the Court finds that only the Governmis
interpretation of “County specifications standards” is reasonable. The Coufinalso
Mr. Hutchison to be a reliable and trustworthy witnesser&forethe Court will adopt
his cost estimate and award Plaintiffs damages of $1,708,185.

Conclusion

Basedon the foregoing, the Court finds that Plaintiffs are entitled to recover
$1,708,185n damages due to the Government’s breach of the August 6, 2008CROE
The clerk shall enter final judgment against Defendant in that amount. Pursuant to Rule
54(d) of the Court, costs are awarded to Plaintiffs.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
s/Thomas C. Wheeler

THOMAS C. WHEELER
Judge
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